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National Development Plan: Discussion

Chairman: Apologies have been received from Senator Craughwell.  The purpose of the 
first part of the meeting is to examine the national development plan, NDP, with a view to mak-
ing a submission to the review to renew public consultation on it.  On behalf of the committee, 
I welcome Mr. Stephen Kent, chief executive officer of Bus Éireann.  I thank him for participat-
ing in the meeting at such short notice.

All witnesses are again reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice that they 
should not criticise or make charges against any person or entity by name or in such a way as to 
make him, her or it identifiable, or otherwise engage in speech that might be regarded as dam-
aging to the good name of that person or entity.  Therefore, if their statements are potentially 
defamatory in relation to an identifiable person or entity, they will be directed to discontinue 
their remarks.  It is imperative that they comply with any such direction.

 For witnesses attending remotely outside the Leinster House campus there are some limi-
tations to parliamentary privilege.  As such, they may not benefit from the same level of im-
munity from legal proceedings as a witness physically present does.  Witnesses participating in 
this committee session from a jurisdiction outside the State are advised that they should also be 
mindful that domestic law could be applied to the evidence they give.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise, or make charges against a person outside the Houses of the 
Oireachtas or an official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.  I 
remind members that they are only allowed to participate in this meeting if they are physically 
located in the Leinster House complex.  In this regard, I ask all members, prior to making their 
contribution to the meeting, to confirm that they are on the grounds of the Leinster House cam-
pus.

For those watching this meeting online, Oireachtas members and witnesses are accessing 
this meeting remotely.  Only the Chairman and necessary staff essential to the running of the 
meeting are physically present in the committee room.  Due to these unprecedented circum-
stances and the large number of people attending the meeting remotely, I ask everyone to bear 
with us should any technical issues arise.

I now call Mr. Kent to make his opening statement.  He has five minutes as we are limited 
to an hour due to Covid restrictions.

Mr. Stephen Kent: I thank the Chair and members of the committee for today’s invitation.  
Currently, Bus Éireann provides more than 220 State-supported, or public service obligation, 
PSO, routes nationwide.  We also have a fully commercial intercity service, Expressway, and 
we operate the school transport scheme on behalf of the Department of Education.  In the 2019-
2020 school year more than 120,000 children, including over 14,200 children with special edu-
cational needs, were transported in over 5,000 vehicles on a daily basis to schools throughout 
the country as part of this scheme.  This is unparalleled in its scale throughout Europe.

We are in our 35th year. While the last year has been one of the most challenging in our his-
tory because of the impact of Covid-19, we are delighted last year to have introduced the single 
most significant enhancement of public service obligation services, PSOs, with the support of 
funding from the National Transport Authority through the July stimulus.  The link between 
investment, improved services, higher levels of customer satisfaction, which leads to increased 
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usage is very clear.  This type of initiative demonstrates a commitment to maintaining growth 
in public transport, notwithstanding the current challenges we face during Covid-19.

Our 2,700 employees have been at work throughout this pandemic.  They have ensured that 
essential services continued to be delivered for those who depend on them most.  I would like to 
pay tribute to the dedication of all the employees and many who deliver services on our behalf.  
These people were very steadfast right throughout the crisis in demonstrating a very strong 
public service ethos associated with Bus Éireann.

The board and management are very thankful for the ongoing support from the Department 
of Transport and the Department of Education, the National Transport Authority, NTA and CIÉ 
and for the very constructive engagements we have with the trade unions which represent many 
of our staff to ensure safety continues to be at the forefront of everything we do.

In 2019 Bus Éireann carried 89.4 million passenger journeys.  It was our highest level since 
2008.  The company  saw a return to profit for the first time in five years.  However, in 2020, 
Covid-19 related drops in passenger demand and public transport capacity restrictions created 
financial challenges for Bus Éireann.  It forced us to take some very difficult decisions on a 
number of our commercial services.  We had to do that to protect the remaining network in the 
longer term and continue serving more than 150 communities which rely on our Expressway 
services.

Our commercial services are currently relying on temporary support for the next three 
months under the commercial bus operator direct award contract but every route needs to be 
sustainable in the longer term.  If there are any issues of connectivity, we liaise very closely 
with the National Transport Authority, NTA, as it has the ultimate responsibility to assess de-
mand and provide connectivity if it is needed.

We believe Bus Éireann has a central role to play in many of the ten strategic outcomes 
outlined in the national development plan, so for the convenience of committee members I 
will make my comments under some of the headings outlined in the plan.  The first is compact 
growth, strengthening rural economies and communities and enhancing regional accessibility.  
What we would say in that regard is that while the National Transport Authority is responsible 
for overall connectivity nationwide, we work closely with it to ensure integration of services 
across our nationwide network.  Bus Éireann has the reach and transport skills to participate in 
any plan which connects Ireland and to support sustainable urban and rural development, ef-
ficiently and effectively.

In recent years, we have experienced significant growth in regional cities and towns.  In 
particular, when we have investment that goes in by way of additional fleet and increased fre-
quency.  Some examples I cite are that in 2019, we grew city passenger numbers by 50% in 
Waterford, by 70% on route 220 in Cork and by 60% in Drogheda with a doubling in frequency.

Having the right infrastructure in place for buses to operate efficiently and on time, such as 
bus priority measures, real time information and ongoing investment in regional roads and mo-
torways is key to incentivising people to make the shift from car to bus.  Where infrastructure 
is in place, the impact is clear.  We look forward to planned BusConnects projects sitting under 
this plan.  We see it as a key in transforming bus transport in our cities.

It is essential that sustainable funding is in place for all routes that have a public service 
obligation and that supply and demand is carefully considered and balanced for routes which 
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require a commercial licence to ensure that these services can become sustainable again when 
the recovery begins.

We also provide services to more than 1 million people through our free travel scheme.  As 
our population continues to age and grow more generally, demand for our services will increase 
again.  The demand-led school transport scheme we operate on behalf of the Department of 
Education continues to grow.  We look forward to actively participating in the Department 
of Education review of the needs of the scheme, including the sustainable transport plans for 
schools for the future over the coming months.

Under the headings of sustainable mobility and a transition to a low-carbon and climate 
resilient society that are called out under the national development plan, this year we have 
confirmed orders for 204 new vehicles and we are making considerable improvements in the 
transition of our fleet to greener, cleaner, more accessible vehicles.  We will not be introducing 
any diesel-only buses to our city and town fleets.  We are beginning the process of switching 
to hybrid vehicles in our city and town services very soon and that will start in Galway over 
the next couple of months.  For longer routes, we are exploring hydrogen fuel cell power and 
investing in Euro VI diesel vehicles.

In 2020, we were the first transport company to operate Ireland’s first hydrogen fuel cell ve-
hicle in a unique trial between Dublin and Meath.  That was led by Hydrogen Mobility Ireland 
and we plan to add three hydrogen buses on route 103 in Meath in quarter 2 of this year.  We are 
also leading on a project to roll out the electrification of Athlone town services in partnership 
with the National Transport Authority, NTA, and our company car and van fleet will all be fully 
electric by 2025.  By 2030, half of our fleet will be zero emissions and all diesel vehicles will 
be at least of Euro VI engine emission standard, which have up to 90% lower emissions than 
some of our current diesel fleet.  We need multi-annual funding commitments to continue.  We 
see them as being critical in ensuring we can deliver on these targets.

In summary, we believe bus and coach transport is highly flexible, safe and demand respon-
sive.  It produces much less carbon dioxide per passenger kilometre than the private car, and 
can increase passenger numbers more rapidly than any other public transport solution.  It can do 
that within a year to 18 months of investment approval.  The current national development plan 
includes very ambitious plans to grow and to green public transport nationally.  Both will help 
to deliver economic recovery post Covid-19.  Bus Éireann is looking forward to the opportuni-
ties presented by both the growth and the greening of public transport.  I thank the committee 
for its time.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Kent.  We will now move on to members’ questions.  The first slot 
is the Fine Gael one.  Deputy Carey has three minutes.

Deputy  Joe Carey: I confirm I am in the precincts of Leinster House today.  I thank Mr. 
Kent for his presentation.  I want to ask him a question on a proposed service for the town of 
Ennis.  He will be aware that Bus Éireann has delivered new services to areas like Kilkenny.  
The NTA has been working on a proposal for a long time.  Has Mr. Kent held discussions on the 
provision of a town bus service for Ennis?  It is incorporated in a document called Ennis 2040, 
which will shortly be published by Clare County Council.  Similar services are being rolled out 
in towns the size of Ennis.  I would like to hear his views on that.

We have had different results over the last number of weeks in relation to some services be-
ing delivered by Bus Éireann in County Clare.  I welcome the fact a service, around which there 
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was a question mark and which delivered people from Broadford to Limerick city, has been 
reinstated.  I received calls from people living along the estuary in a village called Labasheeda 
in west Clare.  Basically, their service has been discontinued but the slack has been taken up 
by Local Link, which is very welcome.  Funding has been provided to do that through the job 
stimulus and I welcome that.

This leads on to my next question.  What other services has Bus Éireann discontinued in 
County Clare?  I ask him to expand on that.  Perhaps Mr. Kent could respond to the issues I 
have raised.

Mr. Stephen Kent: In the first instance, we currently operate services on behalf of the Na-
tional Transport Authority, NTA, for a number of towns around Ireland.  We do not operate the 
Kilkenny town service.  That service was put out to tender and is operated by another operator.  
The Navan town service, for example, is one that has been significantly enhanced most recently, 
in respect of frequency and buses that were added in to the service.  I am not aware of any direct 
conversations with the NTA to date in respect of the town of Ennis.  Obviously, much of what 
we have put into operation over the last number of weeks has resulted in a significant enhance-
ment both for Limerick city and connections for west and east Clare.  However, on the actual 
specifics of the town service, we would be very interested in discussing potential movements 
with the NTA, if it were to be considered.  All activities and the plans going forward as part of 
this, typically go out to consultation.

The Deputy is correct to state that Local Link has been used very effectively as a service by 
the NTA to integrate with services that are included in the direct award contract that we have.  
We operate 220 routes within that.  Typically, those routes are integrated for connectivity with 
other services that might include Local Link or, indeed, other operators, commercial or rail ser-
vices.  That is typically where it has happened.  If demand is not currently at a certain level, or 
if it is more efficient for the State to deploy funding in a way to provide more of a feeder service 
onto the main arteries, that has been typically the approach that has been developed.  Other than 
that, in respect of the development of the main arteries, all of the main issues can be seen in the 
national development plan to address capacity.  If capacity is required, we deploy it.  Speed of 
service and the ability to go from A to B are things Bus Éireann and the NTA are continuously 
trying to address, so that we can get the right levels of frequency and coverage in places like 
some of the towns.

As the Deputy said, particularly as the Covid pandemic unfolds, it is possible that many 
more people may decide not to live in Dublin and to settle elsewhere.  We have watched the 
news like everybody else.  That is going to be an interesting part of how things will develop in 
the future.  The aspects of interchange, directness of service, having the right levels of capac-
ity and deploying it efficiently, dictate the way things are happening.  If there is demand for a 
service, then it will have to be considered in that context.  If there is a possibility to provide that 
service, we will be very willing to engage in relation to that.  That is all I would say.  Typically, 
where services have been redeployed into Local Link, it is because it is more efficient to do so.  
On the main services that we are deploying, we are trying to make sure that we are deploying 
them with the right levels of capacity, speed and frequency, and to do that in unison with the 
other operators if they are involved.  That is what is happening at this particular point.  This has 
been the approach since 2019 and there is a broader project in relation to connecting Ireland 
under way.  That is all I can say in response to the Deputy.  If the question needs to go further, 
we can probably bring it to and discuss it directly with the NTA, because ultimately it has the 
responsibility for connectivity.
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Deputy  Joe Carey: There is a route between Ennis and Shannon.  Mr. Kent will be aware 
that there are a significant number of foreign direct investment companies based in Shannon.  
There are more than 10,000 jobs there.  There is a bus service that connects both Ennis and 
Shannon, but I have received numerous complaints in respect of the frequency and the timing 
of the service.  Looking at the service itself, it is not overly crowded.  Certainly, Bus Éireann 
could up its game in relation to providing a better, more dependable and more frequent service, 
and one which operates in line with the opening hours of these companies.  Would Bus Éireann 
be open to consultation regarding delivering a better service and to talking to employers about 
improving that service between Ennis and Shannon?

Mr. Stephen Kent: We certainly would.  In fact, I met members of Shannon Chamber of 
Commerce some time ago.  Plans were probably in place for further improvements on the route 
directly serving Limerick, Shannon and Shannon Airport, and we knew all that information.  
While I was there, I went for a walk around the park and I saw that several new companies 
were coming in.  I guess we were right, in advance of the onset of Covid-19, in giving some 
consideration to providing enhanced infrastructure, such as bus stops, and achieving a better 
understanding of some of the shift pattern movements.  Some of those changes were certainly 
in train before Covid-19 struck.

I reiterate that those changes are still encompassed in many of the plans being considered.  
An example is route 343, in respect of enhancing that service with better buses and ensuring 
they will be more accessible.  I can tell Deputy Carey that I would be very happy to engage in 
what he has just suggested.  It would be subject to funding, however.  Providing the additional 
frequency of services and redeploying the buses required is something we would depend on 
the NTA to do.  To be fair, there is no lack of willingness on its side.  We are all reliant to a 
great extent on funding coming through so we can provide that better service and bring in the 
improvements of which the Deputy spoke.

Deputy  Joe Carey: I thank Mr. Kent.

Deputy  Darren O’Rourke: I thank Mr. Kent and all the staff of Bus Éireann for their hard 
work on the front line during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Mr. Stephen Kent: I thank Deputy O’Rourke.

Deputy  Darren O’Rourke: On the scale of State support needed during the period of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and in respect of the projected plans for Bus Éireann’s future expansion, 
what level of investment is being sought from the Government?

Turning to the issue of unmet needs, many people would agree with the point made by Mr. 
Kent regarding investment leading to improved services and a higher level of customer satisfac-
tion, and that those aspects are self-fulfilling.  There are significant levels of unmet needs across 
the country.  I am thinking of areas and new communities in my constituency which have no 
bus services.  Some 4,000 people live in Stamullen and hundreds of people live in Kentstown.  
I could list all these areas.  It is the same with the school bus transport scheme and the situa-
tion with concessionary and non-concessionary tickets.  The unmet need this year was unprec-
edented.  Is this a matter entirely for the NTA?  I ask that because surely Bus Éireann’s drivers 
know these areas and the communities which are growing very well.  What upward pressure is 
coming from Bus Éireann in respect of the NTA and delivering services in those areas?

Mr. Stephen Kent: I will take the last question first.  We have regular weekly interaction 
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with the NTA regarding planning teams.  We have a network planning team and the NTA has 
a similar team, which is looking at all those issues.  The Deputy is right about small villages 
like Stamullen.  There are many such towns and villages that, typically, we would be looking 
at.  All these aspects again come back to the fact that within the direct award, as granted to us, 
there are still 220 routes.  Several of those routes could possibly be changed and extended, as 
that is allowed under the direct award contract.  Those changes allowed can involve alterations 
to scale and frequency and additional permeation.  We know society is always changing, so the 
NTA addresses those aspects when it is possible to do so and it works on that process with us.

Turning to additional villages that may come on stream, the Deputy might be aware of an 
example of that happening just before Christmas when the small village of Portroe got a bus 
service for the first time and was connected to Limerick city.  That was certainly a part of the 
consultation with the NTA.  However, it is the NTA that would make that decision and then 
we deploy the services to do that.  Therefore, we are entirely reliant on funding being made 
available to pay for driver hours, to pay for the fuel, to pay for the maintenance and to pay for 
the vehicle.  If that funding has been available, we have been providing it.  As I said, we had 
a unique opportunity at Christmas.  There were 112 jobs created in this business here and 26 
additional vehicles deployed for a fleet, but that was all part of the Government stimulus that 
was created to connect all those additional frequency services in towns that went in.  It came 
with an additional price tag.  From the NTA’s point of view, it was an investment by the State 
of an additional €10 million.  That is what went in to deliver those levels of service.  As I said, 
it is probably, certainly in my tenure here since 2013, the largest investment I have seen.  We 
believe it is the largest, maybe, in 15 years.  It was part of a Government stimulus package and 
I think that we will see the results of that.  It is very encouraging if we can bring those in and 
connect them but, as I said, it still has to be the subject of an effectiveness and efficiency review.  
If a smaller village is not best suited by us, it may be addressed by Local Link or by another 
operator.  That is typically the way it may end up happening because all of the PSO services are 
supplemented by commercial services.

Returning to Deputy O’Rourke’s question on the State support, we have been very thankful 
during Covid because there has been a huge amount of additional funding provided for services, 
in particular, on the PSO side.  We are currently recovering many of our costs, including lost 
revenue.  During parts of Covid, we lost up to 80% of revenue and, in one extreme, 90%, which 
was at the very beginning.  That, obviously, oscillated through the summer as reopenings oc-
curred.  The revenue deficit has been made good and the costs have effectively been recovered 
for the NTA during that period, including, as I would say here for the benefit of the public, a 
large amount of the additional investment in all of the sanitisation regimes and everything that 
we could deploy to make the service as safe as possible.  I am glad to see, even at this point, that 
we have not had any Covid-related-----

Chairman: I need Mr. Kent to conclude.  I would ask him to be concise in his answers 
because I have another eight members to get in and we are very tight on time.  Has Deputy 
O’Rourke concluded?

Deputy  Darren O’Rourke: Yes.

Chairman: Senator Dooley, in the Fianna Fáil slot, has three minutes.

Senator  Timmy Dooley: I welcome Mr. Kent and thank him for his presentation.  Like my 
colleague, Deputy Carey, I want to impress upon Mr. Kent the necessity for him to engage with 
the NTA in the provision of that long-awaited service for the town of Ennis.  It is something 
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that has been in the offing for a long time and Mr. Kent’s skills and understanding of what is 
involved would be helpful to the debate.  Hopefully, Mr. Kent can address that.

I will also address the issue of the service that was discontinued from my own part of the 
county, from Whitegate, through Scarriff, Tulla, Broadford and onwards, to Limerick.  I thank 
Mr. Kent for his engagement and for reversing that decision.  Unfortunately, it should not have 
happened.  When Bus Éireann is offering some good news, we all get the press release.  It is 
important, too, that Bus Éireann engages with us when it intends to change a service.  As others 
have said, it is appropriate that some of the routes are handled by Local Link rather than through 
Bus Éireann.  Mr. Kent probably needs to engage the NTA and Local Link a little more to ensure 
that we do not have that drop in service as was talked about there.

Deputy Carey referred rightly to west Clare.  That is being resolved through Local Link.  
There was a conversation with Local Link, probably, a month or six weeks in advance, which 
meant that there would be no discontinuation of a service.  That is the way to go when Bus 
Éireann is changing its services and I recommend that.

I also want to recognise Bus Éireann’s staff and Mr. Kent for what they have done for us 
through the pandemic.  That has been really helpful to consumers.

I am glad Mr. Kent raised the issue of the Portroe to Limerick service.  It is just across the 
water in County Tipperary but it has potential positive implications for County Clare.  Mr. Kent 
may be familiar with the twin towns of Ballina and Killaloe and I would hope that he could see 
some possibility in that service taking in Killaloe.  As the service transverses from Portroe to 
Limerick, a loop into Killaloe would enhance the service greatly, would give many more people 
an opportunity to avail of the service and would see greater passenger uptake.  Quite some time 
ago, Bus Éireann had a plan to introduce bus rapid transit in and around Limerick and onwards 
to Shannon.  Has further consideration been given to this or are there any plans in Bus Éireann 
to consider rolling out bus rapid transit between Limerick city and Shannon Airport?

Mr. Stephen Kent: I thank the Senator for all his comments about the staff.  Our collabora-
tion with him in the past has been very productive and we continue to try to do what we can for 
the area.  If there is an opportunity for Killaloe and Ballina - particularly as summer services 
and tourism comes back, where these services are critical - I would hope that they could be 
included.  Again, it would be subject to the conversation with the NTA but now that we have a 
service and can see it bearing fruit, hopefully we will get to a point of talking about that.  We 
will keep it under discussion.

Bus rapid transit will be part of the consultation that the Chair of this committee has been 
involved in and the Limerick consultation happening with the NTA.  It will all be integrated into 
that.  All the measures that were talked about in the past are hugely reliant on infrastructural 
investment to make them happen.  There is no lack of willingness to participate positively in all 
those initiatives.  What we will need to do, as I said earlier, is anything that gives us more direct-
ness, coverage and speed, all the things that customers usually need if they are going to make 
a choice to convert from the car to public transport.  It is under consideration.  I understand the 
consultation is back out and, from the NTA last week, that it may be back before people in May.  
We will be active participants in that and those ideas.  We will participate in anything that can 
progress this.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I thank Mr. Kent.  I have three questions.  First, what is the policy 
of Bus Éireann, working with the NTA and local authorities, on bus shelters?  Clare County 
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Council recently had a big discussion on this.  When Cork City Council did a great deal of work 
around the Broadale estate and up Maryborough Hill, it did not put in any bus shelters despite 
the work of Councillor Deirdre Forde, myself and others.  What is the policy on the provision 
of bus shelters?

Second, on the strategy of additional growth and increasing connectivity, will Mr. Kent ex-
plain the rationale behind the cutting of some of Bus Éireann’s Expressway routes?  

Finally, some 1,758 students were unsuccessful in obtaining school transport.  Deputy 
O’Rourke mentioned this earlier.  Will Mr. Kent give some clarity on that?

I thank the Bus Éireann staff for their courtesy and work in this difficult time.  I appreciate 
the work done by everyone in Mr. Kent’s organisation.

Mr. Stephen Kent: I thank Senator Buttimer.  That is very much appreciated.

The provision of bus stops and bus shelters is the responsibility of the NTA in conjunction 
with ourselves.  Consultation is a part of that.  Obviously, we have some liaison with councils.  
Typically, all of those inputs are made.  There has been great progress in recent years, particu-
larly with shelters and trying to ensure bus stops are made more accessible in cities.  A lot of 
that work is continuing.  That is a steady state investment plan that is rolled out.  The NTA is 
at an advanced stage of procurement for bus stop infrastructure, which it has been trying to put 
in place for a number of years.  We are on the other side - we serve just short of 10,000 bus 
stops around the country, some of which probably need reinvestment.  Where shelters are put 
in place, that is typically by way of consultation with the city council to make sure that can be 
provided for and that footways, clearance areas and so on are all there.  I will take back the point 
the Senator has made.  He mentioned Maryborough Hill so I will ask what our input has been to 
that.  That might progress it on the Senator’s side and if he keeps pushing on the council side, 
maybe it will come together.

The Senator asked about Expressway routes.  It was a difficult decision.  We are very reli-
ant on Expressway, which is integrated in the business.  We have a large number of drivers, 
mechanics and staff that continue to work and deliver those services.  They are commercial in 
nature and, outside of what we have with Covid at the moment, they are completely reliant on 
the cost recovery that is happening.  Most commercial services out there are low-margin busi-
nesses.  That is just a fact.  For every route we operate, that is important, particularly when we 
are not in receipt of State money.  We do not get subvention for those routes other than what we 
are getting currently.  We were not getting a subvention in the period until July, so we ran many 
of those routes at a loss.  Revenue loss went to 90% and even at the height of it during the sum-
mer, we operated at about 50% of revenue.  One cannot operate a low-margin service with such 
extreme revenue loss.  In that period, we ended up having to look at the routes individually, 
which was done with detailed consultation with the Department and discussions with the NTA.  
We had to take a view on the projections as to whether some of these routes would come back.  
Our view on some of the routes was that their long-term viability could threaten the long-term 
viability of the other routes we are doing.  We took a decision on the 18 routes we operate to 
effectively come out of four.  As members saw last week, we came out on the Limerick route 
on 29 January, we came out on the Belfast route and, currently, in relation to the Senator’s area 
of Cork, the X8 services and connectivity have been reduced but the long-term plan will be to 
come out of that.  That will be in consultation with the NTA so connectivity solutions can be 
identified in advance of any further decision.  It is pure economics.   We have to make sure a 
route can generate money to pay wages, to pay for investment in a new fleet because one cannot 
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continue running old fleet and to pay for maintenance.  It is as simple as that.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: How does Bus Éireann promote connectivity and how do people 
who have no access to a service get such access, if that is the model?

Mr. Stephen Kent: We operate services by licence.  They are commercial licences that we 
hold and we have to try to operate.  An issue we have at the moment is that when operating 
commercial services, we have to ensure they are sustainable.  It is as simple as that.  It is not that 
we do not want to operate connectivity.  A huge amount of our purpose is to connect people to 
who and what matters to them.  We say that openly as a company but there is only so far we can 
do it.  To do that, we have been reliant on funding from the NTA.  Where it is in place, we have 
stood up and been able to deliver and deploy that.  However, on other routes, where there is no 
possibility of revenue covering our costs, we get to a place where, as a commercial semi-State 
company, we have to make sure we can keep it all operating and we did not want to endanger 
the other routes that have a greater chance of coming back.  Those decisions, difficult as they 
may have been, have been taken so we can maintain connectivity for 150 other communities on 
the other 150 routes.

This was an existential crisis and we are not out of it.  There is a way to go in this Covid 
piece so we have to monitor it.  We have to make those decisions now and we will continue to 
do so.  It will be a commercial decision.  If routes come back in the future, we will look and if 
there is an opportunity to run them, we will try to run them.  At the moment, there is no prospect 
and we are trying to make a decision for the rest of the network.

Deputy  Cathal Crowe: I thank Mr. Kent for joining us at this virtual meeting.  I have a 
few points that my colleagues would like me to put to him, the first of which is in regard to the 
Expressway service.  He explained with great regret that, due to economic circumstances, some 
routes have to be pulled.  What is some of the reasoning behind that?  He stated it was down 
to flat, baseline economics, but looking at the whole itinerary of Expressway services, it seems 
to be those that depart from the largest population centres that are under threat.  Will Mr. Kent 
confirm that Bus Éireann will continue to operate Expressway route 51, a return service that 
operates frequently from Cork to Limerick, Shannon, Ennis and Galway?

Mr. Stephen Kent: I can confirm we will definitely operate that service.  In fact, we hope in 
due course to deploy some new vehicles on that route so that we continue to enhance the service 
between Galway and Cork and to serve Shannon Airport.

Deputy  Cathal Crowe: That is welcome.  Will it remain a linear route, straight up along 
the corridor, or will adjacent communities along that motorway corridor, such as Sixmilebridge 
and Newmarket on Fergus, benefit from it?  Is Bus Éireann committing to using the same stops 
it has always used?

Mr. Stephen Kent: It is the same service and the licence still operates according to the cur-
rent timetable.  That is the service we will look to continue running.  We have no immediate 
plans to change that.

Deputy  Cathal Crowe: My next point relates to concessionary passes for school buses.  
While I acknowledge that schools are not open at the moment, a large volume of students this 
year have not yet been able to reconcile the difficulties they have had with Bus Éireann with 
regard to school transport.  It remains a big issue and I am glad a national review is under way, 
into which Bus Éireann will have significant input.  Its staff have probably been pulled 100 
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ways by the public and public representatives.

As an example, Corofin in north Clare is a typical Irish village.  Mr. Kent may or may not 
know it.  It is quite close to the Burren.  As one leaves the village, one can see the typical typog-
raphy that is around any village, such as streams, dykes and ditches, and they form the parish 
boundaries.  They are the very parish boundaries that become the hard cut-off point between a 
student qualifying or not for a ticket; it is totally illogical.  This probably worked in the 1940s 
and 1950s, when buses started to be seen going down rural roads.  They would pass people go-
ing to the local creamery and the parish boundary was a drain or a stream.

It is totally illogical in 2021.  It forces some people to go three miles one way to a primary 
school, while the crèche or childminder might be six miles across the Burren, and then they 
have to drive to Ennistymon school afterwards.  It is illogical that large numbers of people pass 
one another unnecessarily on the road each morning, and that is just one example, although it 
could probably be applied to every village in Ireland.  The case of Corofin is replicated through-
out Clare and Ireland.  The new model for school bus transport has to be based on supply and 
demand.  If there are five or six kids in a community, that should logically dictate that there be a 
stop.  It should not come down to streams, drains and ditches; that does not work.  I would like 
to hear Mr. Kent’s views on that.

With regard to the overall bus service, I accept that Bus Éireann is constantly seeking to en-
hance its offering to villages and communities.  I recently made a number of submissions to the 
company, particularly regarding the south Clare area, such as Parteen, Meelick, Ardnacrusha, 
Clonlara and Cratloe.  They are in the south of the county, a stone’s throw from Limerick city, 
but they do not enjoy the fabulous city bus service that operates into the north suburbs of the 
city.  As Bus Éireann examines rolling out an improvement in the service, it might also factor 
in these villages.  The two most recent censuses identified this corner of Clare as the largest 
population growth area.  I would like to hear the views of Mr. Kent in respect of the prospects 
for an orbital bus service around Ennis town, as raised by other members.  It is the largest town 
in Munster that does not have city status and is home to 18,500 people.  There is a significant 
hunger and demand for a bus service there.  Just last week, Ms Anne Graham of the NTA gave 
some positive vibes when I asked her about this issue.

Mr. Stephen Kent: On the issue of school transport, while it is evident that the scheme 
has been expanding, the difficulty is that, as was stated, it has always been subject to iteration.  
In this particular case, eligibility criteria apply.  We do not have any discretion in that regard, 
but we will participate in the process and we will look at the issues raised by the Deputy with 
regard to particular locations.  More than €200 million has been spent by the State to try to de-
liver school transport services.  In fact, coming into Covid, additional moneys were deployed 
so that we could do that in a socially distanced way for post-primary children.  On the issue 
raised by the Deputy, there are definitely opportunities within the scheme but it is always sub-
ject to review.  There has been massive growth in the scheme.  As I stated, whatever about 2019 
when there was demand for 120,000 seats and that was growing towards 125,000, even during 
Covid there was still demand in September for 114,000 seats.  There was a very small fall-off 
in demand.

The Deputy referred to places such as Corofin.  I understand that the school transport scheme 
is critical for rural villages around Ireland.  That is absolutely intrinsic to the scheme.  Bus 
Éireann understands that better than anybody at the moment.  The company has been carrying 
out planning and making the effort currently being made in this area for more than 50 years.  
However, our planning and effort are subject to the eligibility criteria, which are specified and 



12

JTCN

agreed by the Department and signed off by the Government.  Whatever way it is done, it has to 
be all done as part of a wider review.  From our perspective, we stand ready.  We will do what 
we can do to deploy the services.  That is all we wish to do at the moment.

Deputy  Cathal Crowe: Forgive me for interrupting.  I thank Mr. Kent.  Before time runs 
out, I ask him to briefly comment on potential enhanced services for Ennis and the villages that 
I mentioned.

Mr. Stephen Kent: My understanding is that the NTA has that issue under review.  As 
things stand, we will certainly participate in the review.  Ultimately, how the NTA decides to 
award the services is at its discretion.  As members may be aware, in the case of Kilkenny, for 
instance, the NTA decided the services in question had to be tendered.  As such, Bus Éireann 
would be like any other organisation and would have to participate in a process.  I cannot preju-
dice anything that is in the thinking of the NTA in respect of those services other than to state 
that I understand the way the Deputy is thinking.  There are several towns around Ireland of 
which I have been made aware that fall under the review of the NTA.  Depending on how those 
are done and whether they are awarded under direct contract again or are tendered, we will cer-
tainly participate in that process, whether it is for Parteen or somewhere in Donegal.  We know 
there are places that are being looked at in that context.

Deputy  Steven Matthews: I thank Mr. Kent for appearing before the committee.  I reiter-
ate the remarks of my colleagues in terms of the thanks we wish to pass on to the staff of Bus 
Éireann for keeping services going, especially for those who depend on public transport and do 
not have access to a car to get them through these difficult times.  It is much appreciated and 
acknowledged.

I wish to elaborate on the last point made by Mr. Kent.  I believe we need to shift the focus a 
little from investment in roads to investment in public transport, both bus and rail.  The national 
planning framework seeks to ensure balanced regional development.  The NDP is up for review.  
I believe there has to be significantly higher investment in public transport to meet not just the 
objective of balanced development, but also to ensure that when we seek to build houses, it is 
transport-orientated development.  We cannot be building houses everywhere depending on car 
transport.  When Mr. Kent looks at how Bus Éireann can deliver balanced development, and 
he said that he knows rural transport as well as anybody else having been at it for so long, is 
the organisation limited in its fleet numbers?  Obviously it is limited in its fleet numbers to the 
service.  Is there a service static steady State view of public transport so that if Bus Éireann had 
more fleet and higher ambition that was supported it could supply a lot more rural bus transport?

Mr. Stephen Kent: I thank the Deputy for his comments about staff.

To answer the question, there are two aspects.  One aspect is the infrastructure that the Dep-
uty has talked about.  As he can see, under the consultations that we will have on the city, there 
is massive change required for a number of those cities.  There is just 30 km of bus prioritisa-
tion available outside Dublin, which is a radically low number.  If one looks at the consultation 
that is put in place for Limerick, for instance, where it proposes to get up to about 84 km in the 
city alone from its current 12 km.  Places like that, and putting that level of prioritisation in, 
will ensure confidence in the service and reliability regarding all of those issues that the Deputy 
talked about.  There is massive infrastructural development required in the regional cities to get 
bus prioritisation measures in place.  They need to be supported, with all of the things that he 
mentioned, bus gateways and all of those things that would allow buses to come in to closures 
and to give them prioritisation.  Nobody likes to be here, on my side of a table, ever having to 
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apologise for the fact that the service has run late.  In fact, everything that we are trying to do 
every single day is to work on punctuality and service improvements.  So we are doing that in a 
measured way but to make the step change one needs the infrastructural change that the Deputy 
talked about and that investment needs to come.

The second part is vehicle investment.  Currently, we operate with a fleet of 1,100 vehicles 
and a lot of those are mixed age vehicles.  I am delighted to say that we had tranches of invest-
ment that came in in 2008 but then there was nothing until 2012 and another burst in 2015.  One 
needs steady State investment for a fleet and all of those things will get addressed now.  That is 
why I am delighted, under the national development plan, NDP, because it will provide capac-
ity needs.  I must say that in the last of couple of years there has been huge investment by the 
National Transport Authority, NTA, to move from single decks to double decks so one will see, 
in regional cities, that a lot of those have come in in the last couple of years.  Now there are bet-
ter energy efficient vehicles and everything is targeted at trying to move to having low to zero 
emissions.  So having the investment for those reasons alone is worthwhile.

On schools, it has been a very difficult part because we operate less than 10% of the services 
directly, under school transport, and a lot of those are reliant on vehicles that are cascaded old to 
new.  We have not secured investment at the levels required for school transport at this point and 
that is the subject of analysis with the Department.  To answer the Deputy’s question, we need 
investment for school transport because I do not believe that children should be treated any dif-
ferently.  In fact, a greener cleaner school fleet turning up at schools is such a positive message.

On the NTA, it has made great strides with investment in vehicles.  The NTA has funded 
double decker hybrids and hydrogen buses.  The only issue that we have, for instance on the 
Expressway routes, is that there is not currently anything outside of Euro 6 diesel engines for 
longer intercity routes but there are trials under way and we hope that things like hydrogen tech-
nology might come to bear to make them better.  On investment, particularly in commercial, 
people want toileted buses.  They want a relatively good standard of buses for their journeys 
and we need to be able to make sure that we give them that relative to the power.  We used to 
promote Expressway with the line “like the car, only better”, and that is exactly how I feel.  It is 
what people get out of it.  As members will know, three out of four journeys in this country are 
by car.  That is a lot and we have to change that mindset.  So what I see in the NDP is investment 
in infrastructure, quality of service and fleet, and all of those things combined will move us a 
long way on the green agenda.

Deputy  Duncan Smith: I will be quick given that the time is approaching 11 a.m.  I refer 
to the good news on the fleet transferring to hybrid models.  Who knows what the future will 
bring in terms of technology.  Has any work been done by the company to quantify its carbon 
emissions now or even two years ago?  What are the projections as the fleet modernises?   This 
is a very forward-looking, progressive move.  For a company the size of Bus Éireann to show 
some leadership on how carbon emissions can be reduced and to have that quantified would be 
very useful for other states and also private actors.  I ask that the company have a look at doing 
that in the interests of furthering the good news story.

I echo the sentiments of others in thanking all the company’s staff for their work during this 
pandemic, from those who are driving the buses to those preparing them and to everyone behind 
the scenes.

Mr. Stephen Kent: I thank the Deputy and appreciate those comments.  On the carbon 
emissions, as I have said, the biggest contributor to energy emissions we have at the moment 



14

JTCN

is fuel and diesel types.  When one adds it all together, 97% of what we contributed goes out 
in fuel type.  As I said, when we start transitioning to modes such as hybrid that will provide 
around a 30% fuel saving on the current level.  Moving to electric will obviously have a huge 
additional benefit as we will effectively go to zero emissions at that point, and then there is 
hydrogen.  I have mentioned some of the other developments, whereby even where we have to 
settle for a Euro 6 versus what we used to have back in 2006 or 2008, it will deliver major sav-
ings in emissions.  We are tracking this.  To give the Deputy more confidence, our board has set 
up a sustainability committee which will commence in the company in March.  We are devel-
oping a full sustainability plan that will tie into many of the goals that will be set out across the 
whole business on everything we have to do to achieve the climate action plan.  We have started 
a lot of energy and climate action projects.  We will do that in consultation with the people who 
supply us with goods.  While it is a small step, last week we even had a vendor coming in who 
planted trees on our behalf in and around some of the places.

All of these are small measures but, collectively, the big issue we must address is the transi-
tion into more energy-efficient fuel alternatives.  That is the path we are taking.  I have no prob-
lem providing the Deputy with information on our current carbon emissions.  We can measure 
those and return with them.  I am delighted to say we are making progress and setting ourselves 
up to align with the 2030 plan.

Deputy  Duncan Smith: I thank Mr. Kent.

Chairman: I want to focus on two issues.  Mr. Kent will be aware that we wrote to him as 
a committee about the Limerick to Dublin Expressway service, specifically the X12 route.  Can 
Bus Éireann see a way to restoring that route or is that a decision for the NTA?

On the Limerick-Shannon metropolitan area plan, Bus Éireann took part in a public consul-
tation I held on that particular plan.  Ms Anne Graham of the NTA was before the committee 
last week.  The NTA has agreed to do a further round of public consultation with a revised draft 
plan.  Has Bus Éireann had any interaction with the NTA on the further revised draft plan to go 
out to public consultation in Limerick in April?  Furthermore, Mr. Kent spoke about increas-
ing the footprint of routes around the urban area of Limerick from 12 km to 84 km.  What is 
the status of that at the moment and how will it fit into the roll-out of BusConnects formally in 
Limerick?

Mr. Stephen Kent: On the Expressway route X12, we do not have a plan to restore that 
route at the minute.  On most of the routes, when we analyse all the cohorts, we find they are 
made up of commuters, people who travel for retail, people travelling for the airport, tourism 
and so on.  At the moment, the corridor is well served.  There has been a lot of competition on 
that route which has been an essential element.  From our perspective, it is supply versus de-
mand and being able to make a sustainable return on the route is very challenging in our view.  
That is the difficult decision we have in that regard.  That is currently not there but anything 
related to connectivity issues and so on is absolutely a matter for the NTA.  If we are asked to 
participate in a process, we will do that.  Effectively, as we see it, the route at the moment is not 
viable and would ultimately require funding support if it was to be continued.  That is just the 
pure, hard, commercial and economic call that we are forced to make.

Chairman: Will Mr. Kent also address the greater metropolitan area, BusConnects and the 
routes in the Limerick area, matters which comprised the second part of my question?

Mr. Stephen Kent: We will definitely participate in that process within the NTA.  We are 
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still consulting every day and our network planning team are engaging in respect of that.  On 
the infrastructure and the Chairman’s point about routes around the urban area of Limerick 
from 12 km to 84 km, this is published in the consultation as it is planned to be.  In the context 
of anything that is going to happen on that, I am aware that he is very supportive - as am I - of 
trying to see if we can move in that direction because I believe it is the right way to go.  If one 
wants to connect across city and across the University of Limerick, with the current arteries and 
when the return of business gives rise to congestion, in order to be able to maintain headways 
and remain on time, there will be a need for prioritisation in respect of places like that.  At the 
moment, the NTA will see all of the data relating to punctuality and to the service and reliability.  
The NTA will use all of that data in the broader plan that will be rolled out for Limerick.  As I 
said earlier, we have been doing this for many years in Limerick and we want to continue doing 
it in order to continue offering better services to the people.

Chairman: How long does Mr. Kent believe it will be before the full, formal plan will be 
rolled out for Limerick?  I am referring to what people would regard as BusConnects.

Mr. Stephen Kent: I am hoping that it will be forthcoming.  This year is going to be chal-
lenging.  As the Chairman is aware, everybody is seeing how we will get through Covid.  Obvi-
ously, there will be challenges but many of the plans are being developed.  Nobody is sitting 
back.  The committee will see that the work is being done on planning, such as for vehicles, 
getting our depots ready for electrification and so on.  This work is happening.  Where the seeds 
are being sown, they are sown.  Ultimately, it will come down to the full funding being made 
available and on having agreement regarding what the consultation and final plan are going 
to be.  We will be participating, as will a number of the committee members and some of the 
Chairman’s constituents.  I hope we can get that process off the ground quickly.  In my interac-
tion with the Minister and the Department, I picked up a great sense of haste to make sure that 
we can get bus services and public transport delivered efficiently and effectively.  Ultimately, 
however, it will come down to Cabinet and the funding being made available.  I am not on the 
receiving end of it but I will be first in the queue to say that we are ready to deliver.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Kent for attending and for engaging with the committee.

Mr. Stephen Kent: I thank the Chairman.

Chairman: We will suspend the meeting briefly to facilitate the technical set up for the next 
session.

Sitting suspended at 11.08 a.m. and resumed at 11.15 a.m.

Issues Facing the Aviation Sector: Discussion (Resumed)

Chairman: The purpose of our second session is to examine the challenges facing aviation 
workers and travel agents.  On behalf of the committee, I welcome Mr. Paul Hackett, board 
member of the Irish Travel Agents Association, ITAA, and Mr. Pat Dawson, its CEO.  From 
the Irish Air Line Pilots Association, IALPA, I welcome Mr. Evan Cullen, president, and Mr. 
Alan Brereton, vice president.  From Fórsa, I welcome Ms Ashley Connelly, aviation sector or-
ganiser, and Mr. Johnny Fox, assistant general secretary, service and enterprise division.  From 
Connect Trade Union, I welcome Mr. Paddy Kavanagh, general secretary.  From SIPTU, I wel-
come Mr. Neil McGowan, aviation sector organiser, and Mr. Tony Carroll, industrial aviation 



16

JTCN

sector.  I thank the witnesses for participating at such short notice.

All witnesses are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that 
they should not criticise or make charges against any person or entity by name or in such a way 
as to make him, her or it identifiable or otherwise engage in speech that might be regarded as 
damaging to the good name of the person or entity.  Therefore, if witnesses’ statements are po-
tentially defamatory in respect of the identified person or entity, they will be directed to discon-
tinue their remarks.  It is imperative that they comply with any such direction.  For witnesses 
attending the meeting remotely outside the Leinster House campus, there are some limitations 
to parliamentary privilege and they may not benefit from the same level of immunity from legal 
proceedings as witnesses who are physically present.  Witnesses participating in this meeting 
from jurisdictions outside this State are advised that they should be mindful of their domestic 
law and how that may apply to the evidence they give.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person or entity outside the Houses 
or an official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.  Members are 
also reminded that they are only allowed to participate in this meeting if they physically locate 
in the Leinster House complex.  In this regard, I ask that, prior to making a contribution, they 
confirm that they are on the grounds of the Leinster House campus.

For anyone watching this meeting online, Oireachtas Members and witnesses are accessing 
this meeting remotely.  Only I as Chair and the staff essential to the running of the meeting are 
physically present in the committee room.  Due to these unprecedented circumstances and the 
large number of people attending remotely, I ask everyone to bear with us should technical is-
sues arise.

I draw everyone’s attention to our severe time limitations, for which I apologise.  I ask wit-
nesses and members to operate within their time slots.  I want the witnesses to be able to give 
the committee their key messages and requests on behalf of the people they represent so that 
we can leave this meeting with a collective view.  However, I am conscious of the lack of time.

I invite Mr. Cullen, who has four minutes.  I apologise for the time limitations, but we are 
where we are.

Mr. Evan Cullen: IALPA welcomes this opportunity to appear before the Oireachtas Joint 
Committee on Transport and Communications Networks on behalf of the 1,200 professional pi-
lot members in Ireland.  Mindful of the short time available to us today, this opening statement 
is short and focused on one or two key issues identified by IALPA members as significant for 
the continued survival of the aviation sector in Ireland.

We refer to recent news coverage and reported comments from the Tánaiste in The Irish 
Times on 26 January that “international travel was unlikely to reopen until sometime in the fu-
ture, but certainly not for the summer”.  It appears that there is now a prevailing narrative that 
international travel is preventing Ireland from becoming a Covid-free island like New Zealand.  
Clearly, the Government shares this view and is preparing to close Ireland to international travel 
further for the foreseeable future.

The €80 million support package for the aviation sector announced in November was es-
sentially a grant for Ireland’s airports, the majority of which are State owned.  The funds left 
over for the airlines may have, at best, covered a few days’ worth of losses.  Our airlines are 
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intrinsic to the success of an island nation like Ireland, and they supply economic lifeblood, 
bringing, among other things, foreign direct investment and an estimated €10 billion into the 
Irish economy annually.  Every aircraft that leaves Ireland will represent lost jobs and lost GDP.  
It is an economic fact that if our airlines are allowed to go out of business, the consequences for 
the Irish economy will be devastating.

Most governments have recognised such dangers and have accepted that if they are to inter-
vene to prevent airlines operating for the sake of virus suppression, they must ensure those air-
lines do not go out of business as a result.  New Zealand, so often our favoured Covid compara-
tor, moved quickly to extend supports worth $900 million to Air New Zealand.  Much closer 
to home, the list includes €10 billion for Lufthansa, €7 billion for Air France, €2.5 billion for 
British Airways, and €1.2 billion for TAP Air Portugal.  The UK Government provided a loan 
worth €670 million to Ryanair, an Irish airline, such was the value it placed on its contribution 
to the UK economy.  We have provided the committee with a copy of recent media coverage 
detailing the state aid approved by the European Commission for dozens of European airlines 
from their respective governments.  Why does Ireland remain an outlier as the only European 
country not to provide meaningful financial aid to its indigenous airlines?

The window remaining for decisive action is fast closing.  Airlines plan and budget for their 
vital summer schedules at this time of year and they will soon have to make hard decisions 
based on expected market conditions.  Our Government needs to understand that creditors and 
airline owners will not allow for yet another lost summer.  They will cut their losses and move 
their money and assets to other countries that support aviation.  The market will not save Ire-
land’s airlines.

If international travel must be suppressed into the future, significant financial aid for Irish 
airlines is the only option available to avert sectoral collapse.  If the Government acts to sup-
press travel, the Government must also act to save our airlines from the destruction that such 
interventions cause.  They cannot have it both ways.  We implore the committee to lobby the 
Government to provide meaningful financial aid to Ireland’s airlines before it is too late.

Over the weekend it was reported that Aer Lingus accessed that €150 million loan facility.  
We understand that was to address a problem it had last year.  It will not do anything for the 
problem that has now been created because the Government has cancelled the summer of 2021.  
In our submission we also include an IATA document on the importance of air transport to Ire-
land.  We also provide detailed information on the dozens of airlines across Europe that have 
received direct government aid.

Ms Ashley Connelly: Fórsa represents over 80,000 members, including around 5,000 work-
ers in airlines, airports, air navigation bases, aviation regulatory bodies and air traffic control.  
Eleven months of pay cuts, lay-offs, redundancies and job insecurity along with continued un-
certainty about the future have put aviation workers and their families under significant strain.  
For many, mortgage and other debt incurred during this period will be a burden for years to 
come.  It is not sustainable for these members to continue to endure this hardship.  With no early 
end to travel restrictions in sight, thousands of jobs will remain at risk unless the State acts now.

While the industry and its staff have benefited from State wage supports, Ireland continues 
to lack a European-style joined-up Government approach to underpin jobs in the sector, protect 
aviation infrastructure and ensure the survival of a viable post-pandemic industry.  This runs the 
risk that Irish aviation will be left behind when the rest of the world moves on, with potentially 
devastating implications for the national economy and employment in the aviation sector, and 
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the sectors and communities that depend on it.  It is highly likely - if not certain - that aviation 
will be among the last industries to emerge from this crisis yet the Government has been slow 
to engage fully with stakeholders.  Recommendations from the task force for aviation and this 
committee have been largely ignored.  This inaction is placing an entire industry at risk along 
with the jobs and connectivity it supports.

Fórsa’s written submission to this committee gives a detailed assessment of the impact of 
the crisis across the industry and contains a range of recommendations both for the sector as 
a whole and for specific companies.  I will draw particular attention to three industry-wide 
requirements.  First, we make recommendations regarding income supports that acknowledge 
their contribution to the sector and its staff while highlighting the need for a flexible, industry-
specific approach for this phase of the aviation crisis.  There is a strong risk that the employee 
wage subsidy scheme, as currently constructed, will lack the flexibility required to underpin 
employment relationships in the sector, which is essential if we are to position the industry to 
bounce back post Covid.  Fórsa is proposing an aviation income support scheme similar to that 
in place in Germany, which enables employers to reduce hours rather than laying staff off, with 
Government income support for the time employees cannot work.  Second, we emphasise the 
need for Government-led social dialogue with employers and unions to underpin a sustainable 
and thriving aviation industry as we emerge from the pandemic.  Third, Fórsa is calling for 
the Central Bank to adopt European Banking Authority, EBA, guidelines for the extension of 
mortgage payment breaks in 2021.  The European guidelines do not currently apply in Ireland, 
where the application process is slow and onerous.  After 11 months of income reductions and 
no early sight of recovery, this is placing avoidable strain on our workers.

Ireland went into this crisis as a major force in global aviation and our connectivity to the 
rest of the world plays a crucial role in supporting economic activity and attracting inward in-
vestment.  It is, therefore, crucial that we act collectively to ensure that the industry not only 
survives the impact of this current crisis but is fit to perform robustly as and when safe inter-
national travel resumes.  Fórsa’s approach has been to work closely with aviation employers to 
maximise job protection but this approach cannot succeed without significant and continuing 
Government support and intervention.  The union continues to call for any such support to be 
contingent on the avoidance of compulsory redundancies and the offshoring of Irish aviation 
jobs.

Mr. Paddy Kavanagh: I will not take as long because most of the points have been made 
and I do not want to repeat them.  To summarise, since we last met in November, the situation 
for our members has continued to deteriorate and has got much worse.  Connect not only rep-
resents members in the airlines and the airports but also those working in production areas.  At 
the moment, those workers are also experiencing significant lay-offs and redundancies and an 
inability, particularly among younger workers, to obtain mortgages, etc., because of reduced 
circumstances.  We have seen situations where workers have had agreements for pay, etc., de-
ferred.  There are deep concerns about health and safety, particularly the roll-out of vaccines for 
workers in airports.  If people are to be ready for the upsurge, they must be protected for when 
that comes.  We all know about the downturn in figures and the impact of that on numbers.  We 
echo what has been said about increased Government support for the industry similar to what 
we have seen across Europe.  We are calling for some very precise issues that we feel have been 
missed to be addressed.  No worker should be subject to compulsory redundancy while his or 
her employer is benefiting from any Government subsidy during the pandemic.  The legislation 
on redundancy means that workers who are currently laid off or on reduced hours cannot avail 
of voluntary redundancy, yet that time is not counted as service.  If we are denying workers the 



9 FEBRUARY 2021

19

right to voluntary redundancy, that time should be counted as service.  This is a serious issue 
for our members.  We would support a system similar to the German kurzarbeitergeld system or 
even that of Sweden, where workers who continue to work during the pandemic are supported 
through better terms.  In that context, we are concerned about a future skills shortage in mainte-
nance and specialist roles because people are leaving the sector.  When the upturn comes, there 
will be a skills shortage.  Our members have particular and precise specialist skills in certain 
areas and we are concerned that when the upturn comes, which it will, there will be a shortage 
of skills.  In that context, we are asking the State to see this as an opportunity to subsidise the 
industry for specialist upgrading or maintenance works that could be done to get the airports 
and airlines ready for the upsurge when it comes.  Basically, we support everything else that 
has been said here.  

Approximately one third of our union members are in construction.  While construction 
has been badly hit, we understand that the sector will resume much more rapidly than aviation.  
Aviation will not be where it was pre-pandemic until 2024 or 2025 according to the latest es-
timates.  Workers in the aviation sector will suffer the longest hit and they must be taken care 
of with some sort of scheme to ensure that while they remain in the industry, their earnings are 
protected. 

Chairman: I thank Mr. Kavanagh and now invite Mr. McGowan from SIPTU to make a 
four-minute presentation.

Mr. Neil McGowan: I thank the Chairman and members of the committee for the opportu-
nity to make a presentation.  The Covid pandemic has had a devastating impact on the aviation 
industry, which continues to worsen by the day.  All workers in aviation have suffered a sig-
nificant drop in income due to the pandemic.  Those that have remained in work have suffered 
drops in working hours and pay, thousands have faced lay off and many more have lost their 
jobs on a permanent basis.  Flights and passenger numbers have collapsed and the industry has 
been brought to its knees.  The outlook for aviation in the short- to medium-term is bleak and 
workers face into 2021 with real uncertainty and fear for their jobs.

Despite a dramatic drop in earnings, workers in aviation continued to work throughout the 
pandemic.  This has allowed essential medical supplies, PPE and most recently, vaccines, to 
continue to arrive in the country.  While State supports through wage subsidies and financial 
support for the regional airports are welcome, they simply do not go far enough given the depth 
and breadth of the crisis.  

To ensure that we have an aviation industry post-Covid, a number of actions need to be tak-
en immediately by the Government.  SIPTU recommends the extension and amendment of the 
employment wage subsidy scheme, EWSS, for the aviation sector to ensure that employment 
is maintained in the industry.  The scheme should be tailored for the aviation industry so it be-
comes a genuine short-time working scheme based on the German model that pays 85% of pre-
Covid earnings.  It must be made conditional on several binding commitments from employers, 
including that no worker be made redundant on a compulsory basis and that no worker suffers 
a permanent reduction in any terms and conditions of employment, unless by collective agree-
ment, while the employer is benefiting from the EWSS.  SIPTU recommends that Shannon 
Airport be returned to the same management group as Dublin and Cork airports.  The separation 
of Shannon Airport has not been a success and the Covid crisis has brought into question the 
airport’s long-term viability.  Given the airport’s absolute importance to the region’s economy, 
SIPTU believes it must be brought back into the same management group as the other State 
airports.  SIPTU recommends the introduction of free and rapid testing for all airport workers 
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and that aviation workers be given the vaccine at the appropriate time.  Any financial support 
by the State directly to airports or airlines must be accompanied by conditionality that prohibits 
compulsory redundancies or a reduction in terms and conditions.  We believe that such support 
is required at levels well above what we have seen to date.  In the absence of the Government 
taking meaningful action, we simply will not have a functioning aviation sector in this country.  
Given we are an open island economy, the country will not recover to the full extent without a 
functioning aviation sector.  The thousands of people who depend on aviation directly and the 
hundreds of thousands in the wider economy who need a functioning aviation industry need the 
Government to act now through the tailored supports for which our union is calling.

Mr. Paul Hackett: Things were bad when we spoke to the committee in October and they 
have got much worse.  There was no reopening date for travel back then and we assumed it 
would resume in the second quarter of 2021.  This has now been pushed out to the first quarter 
of 2022 with no prospect of international travel in 2021.  Last Thursday on “Prime Time”, the 
Taoiseach said that travel had totally collapsed and that some of the measures are a deterrent to 
travel and will have an impact.  On 1 February at the daily NPHET briefing, the Chief Medical 
Officer said it is not realistic to expect people can fly to Europe or other destinations for sum-
mer holidays and the only beach they are likely to travel to is their local one.  We now have the 
€500 fine for anyone travelling for nonessential reasons.  There is clearly no doubt that travel 
agents cannot trade.

We, as an industry, are responsible and customer focused.  We have always and will contin-
ue to follow public health guidelines.  However, if NPHET and the Government want to close 
down international travel for a year, they need to put in place the appropriate level of support if 
they want an Irish travel industry when international travel can safely resume.  We are a unique 
sector in that we have had to remain open to clients to facilitate refunds with practically zero 
income for almost two years.  The travel sector needs a bespoke response with a specific sup-
port as a consequence of being closed on public health grounds linked to international travel.

Let me summarise the supports in place.  The travel industry is accessing the EWSS similar 
to other sectors.  The scheme is available when turnover is down at least 30%.  We are more than 
90% down and for 2021 we could be 100% down.  We also have no visibility on wage supports 
after 31 March.  Most of the travel industry is accessing the Covid restriction support scheme, 
CRSS.  This is designed to assist with nonpayroll costs.  To qualify, a business must be 75% 
down on turnover compared to 2019 and it applies from level 3 and above.  The travel industry 
has been told the scheme only applies to it at levels 4 and 5.  This is an advanced tax credit; it is 
not a grant.  The maximum threshold of €5,000 per week seems reasonable provided turnover 
is €4 million per year or less but for any travel company above this level the support simply 
does not cover non-payroll costs to any material extent.  This is a retail-focused assistance and 
does not cover all Irish licensed travel companies.  The CRSS does not support a downturn in 
business and is directly linked to the levels in the Covid framework but, clearly, travel agents 
are prevented from trading irrespective of the levels, and have been since March 2020.

The Government introduced the refund credit note scheme in summer 2020.  This is a cash 
flow mechanism to assist with delayed supplier refunds.  We need to be clear that the refund 
credit note is not a grant, a subsidy or a support.  It is a pure cash flow mechanism introduced 
with a nine-month delay on the assumption that the industry would be back trading.  Clearly 
this is not the case and we need a solution to this issue similar to the approaches adopted with 
EU approval in Denmark, the Netherlands, Portugal, Bulgaria and others.

This brings us to the issue of airlines refunds or the lack thereof.  When we spoke to the 
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committee last October, we outlined the potential reason for the delay on the part of one par-
ticular airline being down to a conflict over two EU directives that impact the travel industry.  
This has turned out to be the case and we can go into more detail in the question-and-answer 
session.  The fact is that a significant number of refunds to customers for cancelled flights are 
outstanding.  Given the current talk of no international travel for 2021, we need to discuss the 
issue of consumer protection and refunds when flights operate contrary to Government advice 
on travel.  These are known as “ghost flights” and the ultimate loser is the consumer.

Committee members may also recall that the ITAA called for pre-departure airport testing 
when we addressed the committee back in October 2020.  The aviation recovery task force, 
the airports and airlines also called for predeparture airport testing.  What ensued was a debate 
with the medics over which test should be used and none was introduced.  Subsequently, we 
have been dealing with the issue of variants of Covid that arrived into Ireland in late 2020.  Was 
predeparture airport testing a missed opportunity?

When we addressed the committee in October, there was no talk of vaccines.  The State is 
spending €1 billion a week in supports and related costs and we are being told there is a vaccine 
supply issue.  There does not appear to be a supply issue for some countries and given this is 
a life-saving opportunity, it appears that we are lagging well behind in getting the vaccine into 
the arms of our citizens.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Hackett. 

We have about 21 minutes remaining and eight members can have 2.5 minutes each.  It is 
important that we hear from the witnesses about the overall issues.  I ask members and wit-
nesses to be cognisant of the fact that there is 2.5 minutes for each question and response.  I will 
have to be strict on time because I want all members to be able to get in.

Deputy  Joe Carey: I thank all of the witnesses for their presentations.  I refer to Mr. Cul-
len’s presentation.  What type of engagement has happened between airlines and Government 
to get the funding injection needed?  It is welcome that Aer Lingus has been provided with a 
loan.  To what extent do the witnesses believe that indigenous airlines need funding to keep 
them going so that we have an airline industry after this?

There is broad consensus from the witnesses on the German model.  I ask Ms Connelly to 
expand on what that means in real terms.  What is Germany doing that we could do?

Mr. Evan Cullen: Ryanair has just emerged with its results.  It was in a closed period until 
a couple of weeks ago.  Aer Lingus is part of IAG and is in a closed period.  It will announce 
its results at the end of February or in early March.  During these periods, the airlines cannot 
talk to anybody about their financial state.  Other airlines have indicated to us that they asked 
for assistance from the Government.  If we are to believe those executives, they said none was 
forthcoming.  We understand however that there has been some discussion with the Govern-
ment.  That is all confidential, based on market sensitive rules on share prices and so on.

There are aviation economists in IALPA whom we use for various negotiations.  The air-
lines need assistance in the form of direct State aid.  They cannot take on any more loans on 
their balance sheets.  It is important to note that when we last spoke, there was a reference in the 
committee’s report to green shoots for 2021.  It came as an enormous surprise to us in January 
when the Government effectively closed international travel for the summer of 2021.  Every 
assumption we built into our plans was that we would get to a space of at least 70% of the 2019 
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production in 2021.

That has now been scuppered.  We will be lucky if in 2021 we get to 10% of the 2019 level 
of production.  Therein lies the problem.  We will also go into 2021 without the cash we had in 
2020.  A lot of bookings were made in early 2020 for the summer of 2020.  That booking cash is 
no longer available and we are going into a zero revenue 2021.  Problem after problem is being 
heaped on us.  All the assumptions for getting out of this crisis have now proved to be false.  It 
looks like there will be a recovery in quarter 1 or 2 of 2022, if there are any airlines to take on 
that recovery.  That problem is massive and cannot be dealt with through loans from ISIF.  It has 
to be dealt with through direct financial State aid.  That is now the only way out of this. 

Chairman: I apologise for the time constraints but we have no choice.

Ms Ashley Connelly: In regard to the scheme are making reference to, it is the short-time 
work benefit scheme, kurzarbeit.  Germany has put in place an extension to the terms of the 
scheme and the rates at which it is paid.  For the first three months, a person would get 60% of 
basic salary for days not worked.  They have looked at increasing that to 70% from the fourth to 
the sixth month and up to 80% or 85% from the seventh month.  Our members have now seen 
11 months of pay reductions and reduced working hours, or in some cases lay-offs.  This would 
help shore up incomes and ensure these people do not have problems with mortgage or rent 
arrears in future.  We are very concerned that the debt burden being carried by our members is 
not sustainable.

A scheme like this will give a level of certainty for the next 21 or 24 months so people can 
plan their livelihood.  Many members I have engaged with found when their children went back 
to school last year that getting the benefits from the State could be quite complicated when in 
receipt of the employment wage subsidy scheme.  Many members, for example, found them-
selves appealing to get the third level grants.  Much more flexibility could be adopted if we 
engaged together on this.  We could find the solutions that would give certainty to all members 
working in the aviation industry, including our colleagues here today from the travel agent sec-
tor.  I hope this is helpful and I am happy to share any further information if required.

Deputy  Darren O’Rourke: I thank all the witnesses.  Will Mr. Dawson and Mr. Hackett 
outline the long-term threat to the Irish travel industry?  I will pick up on the point about the 
scale of the response from the Government being an outlier in international comparisons.  What 
sort of scaled response do the representatives of the aviation industry want to see?  I am con-
scious that the junior Minister in the Department stated last week that if more needs to be done, 
it will be done.

Mr. Pat Dawson: The long-term position with travel agents is that we will have two years 
without any income whatever.  As my colleague, Mr. Hackett, has said, we got some help but 
that will certainly not keep us afloat.  We have 200 small companies dotted around Ireland and 
to date the support has not been tailor-made.  We will meet the Minister for Transport for the 
first time next week and perhaps that will bring something.  Currently we are bleeding money 
and new licences must be issued on 1 April.  It is a bleak front for all of us.  We have not got 
enough support.  We are fighting through refunds and trying to support our customers.  We have 
certainly got little or no meaningful help from the Government.

We were at level 4 or level 5 restrictions for 15 weeks of last year’s 52 weeks.  The Covid 
restrictions support scheme has proven useless because we have seen level 5 restrictions so 
much over the past 12 months.  It looks like this could last for two years.  We are in dire straits.  
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Many Ministers have promised to help us in a meaningful way but that has not happened.

Senator  Timmy Dooley: I thank everybody for their presentation.  I and others have been 
really anxious to highlight this very serious matter and the witnesses have done that exception-
ally well for all facets of the aviation sector.  They have rightly identified that the expectation 
for some recovery was this year and, quite frankly, with the current status of the virus, that will 
not happen.

Will the witnesses provide some further documentation?  I am interested to hear what a 
number of witnesses have mentioned with respect to Germany.  It certainly sounds like a model 
we could look at.  I am hopeful that when the committee receives those documents, we might 
put together a short presentation or report for the Department of Transport and the Government 
as a whole to follow up.

Mr. McGowan mentioned other matters close to my heart of trying to get Shannon Airport 
back into the cluster of airports with Dublin and Cork.  It is something I will certainly support 
as time goes on.  The crisis is immediate.

The witnesses rightly identified the fact that we cannot have one picking off the other.  There 
cannot be an opportunity now to shed employees at this time, particularly when one consid-
ers the efforts that aviation workers have made throughout the crisis.  If possible, can the wit-
nesses provide further information on the schemes that have worked and that are working well 
throughout Europe?

Chairman: I call on each of the witnesses to come back with a one-pager fleshing out 
specific supports and schemes.  Maybe we could have a little more flesh in a more condensed 
way.  It is a big ask but we want to do something productive on behalf of the organisations and 
their members.  Can we flesh out the position relating to the German model?  Mr. Cullen made 
reference to direct state aid being required rather than loans.  Can we hear a little more detail so 
that we can come back on that?

I have two questions for Mr. Cullen and Mr. McGowan.  They have been involved in the 
aviation sector over many years.  Where does the crisis rank in the context of others that have 
occurred in their lifetimes?  My next question is for the travel agents.  Michael O’Leary ap-
peared on “Morning Ireland” recently.  He said that all refunds had been completed.  Is that the 
case?  We will hear from Mr. Cullen first and then Mr. McGowan and Mr. Hackett.

Mr. Evan Cullen: I was involved in the restructuring negotiations following the tragic 
events of 11 September 2001.  I was also involved in restructuring negotiations following the 
economic crisis in 2008 and 2009.  This is, by a multiplier of ten, far more serious.  All those 
crises had certainty about their ending and about what needed to be done to fix the problems.  
The uncertainty created by this crisis is extraordinary.  In the context of having an entire sum-
mer cancelled after the previous one being cancelled, no airline in the world structured its fi-
nances around being able to go for two years without revenue and still pay its obligations to the 
aircraft lessors.  That is where the big cash drain lies.  Aircraft are extraordinarily expensive.  
When they are not in operation and making money, they are very expensive indeed.  Paying 
those leases is what will pull us down.

Mr. Neil McGowan: I agree with Mr. Cullen’s assessment.  Aviation is an industry that has 
been through many crises in recent decades.  Yet, the depth and breadth of this crisis is almost 
impossible to articulate in terms of the impact it has had on the industry.  I do not believe any 



24

JTCN

of us could ever have imagined that we would be looking at a situation where almost two years’ 
worth of activity is likely to be lost.  It is almost impossible to articulate the depth and breadth 
of the crisis.  It makes the issues we had to deal with in previous crises look relatively simple 
by comparison with what is facing aviation workers now and what has faced them during the 
past 12 months.

Chairman: Have all refunds been paid by Ryanair to customers as Michael O’Leary said?

Mr. Paul Hackett: No, I am afraid not.  Ryanair has acknowledged that it has an obligation 
under EU Regulation 261/2004 to refund customers.  Ryanair has told us that it wants to do so 
directly to customers and the travel agents accept that.  We are absolutely behind the airline in 
getting those refunds to the customers, including families, retirees and everyone else who is due 
that money from last year.  That is the primary concern.

We have a shared objective in processing the refunds.  As part of that, we engaged in Ry-
anair’s customer verification process.  We submitted a raft of documentation.  At some point 
in October or November, the Ryanair systems seemed to stall.  Some cheques issued from a 
German bank.  Nothing has come out since then.  Ryanair is now looking for bank details to 
do bank transfers.  The end customer is the person suffering here, not the travel agents.  We 
all accept that the refund can go directly to the customer.  We really need Ryanair to do that.  I 
hope that we can come back before the committee at the end of February and give an update on 
where that matter stands.  We will do whatever we can to work with Ryanair.  Our customers 
have done it and we want to do it.  Let us get the refunds processed.

Chairman: We will follow up with Ryanair on that.

Deputy  Cathal Crowe: Can the Chairman look at the chat contribution?

Chairman: The next slot up is Deputy Ó Murchú.  I will come back to Deputy Crowe on 
that.

Deputy  Ruairí Ó Murchú: This is either to Mr. McGowan or Ms Connelly.  We need that 
piece of paper the Chair spoke about.  We need a half page on what is necessary.  On the wage 
subsidy scheme and the need for a bespoke solution with protections for workers, I ask the wit-
nesses if they can give an update.  We need an update on travel agents as well as soon as pos-
sible, on where they are regarding refunds.  If we had that information, we could put it on the 
governmental agenda with a view to getting a result.

Chairman: I thank the Deputy.  I call Deputy Cathal Crowe, who has two minutes.

Deputy  Ruairí Ó Murchú: Will I be able to get that update on the bespoke solutions?

Chairman: Does the Deputy want a response?  The witnesses have covered what they 
are looking for and they will write to us in that regard.  I am conscious of time and I have two 
members looking to come in.

Deputy  Ruairí Ó Murchú: All right.  Go on ahead.  If they have time at the end, they can 
build it into other answers.

Deputy  Cathal Crowe: The best country we can look at in terms of what is happening is 
perhaps Israel, where they have had an advanced roll-out of Covid vaccines.  We will have to 
see how they get their aviation sector up and running because things in their wider population 
seem to be improving at a faster rate than other countries.
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I will ask the representatives from IALPA something and maybe they will come back after-
wards on it.  Many IALPA pilots have contacted me about the difficulties they are having get-
ting out of Ireland to, maybe, Heathrow to fly a service from Heathrow to China, the Far East, 
Australia or wherever it may be.  The supply chain pilots or pilots still working for British or 
continental-based airlines that need to get out on a Wednesday morning to an airport hub to take 
up work for the week were having difficulties.  I have written an awful lot and corresponded 
with the Department of Transport on their behalf.  Is that still a problem?

The last query I have is for Mr. Dawson and the travel agents.  I dealt a lot over the past three 
days with an issue in County Clare.  There is still an issue with people who booked with Ryanair 
through third-party travel agents and that needs to be looked at.

Mr. Evan Cullen: My latest information is two weeks old with regard to supply chain pi-
lots.  I will contact those pilots now and get an update on transiting Heathrow to Australia and 
also to the-----

Chairman: Mr. Cullen might come back to us on that.  Mr. Dawson or Mr. Hackett, very 
quickly.

Mr. Pat Dawson: There are third-party travel agents who have dealt with Ryanair for the 
last 20 years and this only happened with the start of the pandemic.  As my colleague, Mr. Hack-
ett said, we are working through verification and onerous paperwork to send back to Ryanair.  
There is a logjam and it is being slowed down, but not by the travel agents or the consumer.  The 
payments are being slowed down by Ryanair.  We figure that in Ireland alone approximately 
€20 million is due back to the customers of Ireland.

Chairman: I suggest the ITAA sends us a briefing note on that after this meeting so we can 
do some constructive work on that.

Mr. Pat Dawson: Certainly.

Deputy  Michael Lowry: Most of what I wished to ask has been answered.  Our witnesses 
have set out a bleak analysis of the sector.  The magnitude of the problem is daunting and it is 
an appalling vista for the sector.  I go back to previous discussions we had and the failure of 
our authorities to bring in proper pre-departure tests and rapid testing and tracing.   Now the 
Government is talking about an international travel ban.  In my view, one has to ask whether 
zero Covid is practical or feasible.  There would be enormous consequences and a devastating 
impact on the aviation sector.  The loss of connectivity would have significant implications for 
business, enterprise and the economy in general.  I would like to see a submission to the com-
mittee outlining the feasibility of this notion of zero Covid that is flying around at the moment 
and gathering credence.

Deputy  Duncan Smith: I am interested in hearing from SIPTU based on its submission 
any details on conditionality for protection of workers for any supports received from the State.  
I would like to hear from the ITAA any details on the specific supports that are required for the 
travel agency industry.

Mr. Neil McGowan: It is clear that both the employers and the employees will need addi-
tional supports from the State to get through the crisis.  Conditionality must be attached because 
if the State is to hand over large sums to employers, a social dividend has to arise from that.  
That social dividend will keep people in employment and that is why conditionality in respect 
of compulsory redundancies is so important.  We will not tolerate employers receiving large 
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sums from the State on the one hand, while making people redundant on a compulsory basis on 
the other hand.

Mr. Paul Hackett: The travel industry made submissions to every Deputy, Senator and 
Minister last year and, unfortunately, we were ignored.  We will have further meetings next 
week with representatives of the Department of Transport and follow-up meetings with the 
Minister, Deputy Eamon Ryan, and the Minister of State, Deputy Naughton, the following 
week.  We really need bespoke supports at this stage.  We are facing 22 of 24 months with zero 
income.  If we do not support this industry, there will not be an industry.  It will be managed 
out of the UK, which is out of the EU.  The consumer will have less protection due to Brexit 
and we will destroy an entire sector of industry that pays close attention to consumer needs and 
protection.

Chairman: All the witnesses, including Mr. Hackett, are invited to make one-page, precise 
submissions to the committee developing some of the themes so that we can put something 
constructive to the Department and the Government.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: A copy of the final sentence stated by Mr. Hackett should be sent 
to every Oireachtas Member and taken note of.  As a committee, we should come back to it and 
I ask that we revisit this section of the meeting.  I thank Fórsa and its members for their work.

Turning to Mr. Dawson, what can we as a committee do to help travel agents with respect to 
refunds from Ryanair?  From a Cork perspective, could he make a comment on the behaviour 
of Ryanair towards Cork Airport? 

Mr. Paul Hackett: We are making progress on Ryanair, although it is very slow.  I would 
like to revert to the committee by the end of the month in regard to what we can do.  We have to 
get Ryanair to get the refunds to consumers.  We accept that precedent and it accepts the issue 
of EU261.  Everybody around every table in this country just wants the refunds to go back to 
those retirees, families and couples who booked last year.  Let us continue to work on behalf of 
consumers to do that and to deliver it as best we can, and we will report back to the committee.

Mr. Pat Dawson: We support helping airlines because without them, we will have nobody 
to take us abroad.  Nevertheless, I would highlight one proviso for the Government.  If custom-
ers in Ireland are refunded, the company will get state aid.  In the US, airlines were told they 
would get state aid if they refunded customers.  All the American airlines, therefore, refunded 
their customers and were given state aid.  We fully support the airlines but they should pay back 
the money that is owed to customers and they will be entitled to state aid.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Dawson and apologise for the time constraints.  We would very 
much welcome summary submissions from our guests addressing direct supports from the Gov-
ernment that are needed.  We will return to this issue as a matter of urgency and will hold fur-
ther hearings on it.  The aviation sector is vital for the economy in terms of employment, the 
economy and connectivity.

The meeting is now adjourned.  The next meeting of the joint committee will be a private 
virtual meeting at 4 p.m. today.

The joint committee adjourned at 12.05 p.m. sine die.


